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You know what’s interesting about assassination? … Did you ever stop to think about the people we kill? It’s always those who tell us to live together in harmony and try to love one another. Jesus, Gandhi, Lincoln, John Kennedy, Bobby Kennedy, Malcolm X, John Lennon. They all said live together in harmony…. BAM! Right in the head. Apparently we aren’t ready for that yet.

—George Carlin


DEDICATION

To the First Responders community

As I was working on this new edition of In the Crosshairs, I was struck by how many times I found myself reading and writing about First Responders. They are the ones who show up when tragedy strikes, and they include police officers, firefighters, the military, the National Guard, and more. Thus I am dedicating this book to the First Responders community and I would like to recommend one specific charity for those who might want to help:


OPERATION GRATITUDE

Operation Gratitude seeks to lift spirits and meet the evolving needs of the US military and First Responder communities, and provide volunteer opportunities for Americans to express their appreciation to all who serve our nation.

Every year, Operation Gratitude sends 200,000+ individually addressed care packages to soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines deployed overseas; to their children left behind; and to First Responders, new recruits, veterans, wounded warriors, and their caregivers. Each package contains food, hygiene products, entertainment, and handmade items, as well as personal letters of support.

Through collection drives, letter-writing campaigns, craft projects, and care package assembly events, Operation Gratitude provides civilians anywhere in America a way to say “thank you” through active, hands-on volunteerism.

www.operationgratitude.com
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PREFACE TO THE 2016 EDITION

NOTHING’S GONNA CHANGE MY WORLD?

Assassination has never changed the history of the world.

Benjamin Disraeli

It’s been more than a decade since the first edition of this book was published.

Wouldn’t it be wonderful if I could tell you, on this day, that there were no assassinations or attempted assassinations during the period between these two editions? That it was an era of peace and harmony, and that humankind became ensorcelled with brotherhood and deliberately sought the end of hatred and violence?

Well, here comes the news flash, my friends: You can go ahead and throw that idea in the trash compactor or recycling bin whenever you’re ready because that most certainly did not happen. Humankind has consistently proven itself to be a massive, vibrant organism infected and corrupted by malignant areas of violence, hatred, and intolerance.

That said, however, let us all not surrender, but continue to strive, one day at a time, for peace, love, and understanding. (With thanks to Elvis Costello, who wrote the line “What’s so funny ’bout peace, love, and understanding?” Good question, eh?)

Many chapters of this book have been updated to reflect changes in prison terms, deaths, and so forth. There are also new chapters in this book detailing assassination attempts against George W. Bush, Dick Cheney, Gabrielle Giffords, Hamid Karzai, and Queen Beatrix of the Netherlands.

There is also the story of George Tiller, an abortion provider who was shot and killed while ushering in his church.

As Benjamin Disraeli said in the epigraph leading off this preface, assassination has never changed the history of the world. Granted, it has changed certain specific scenarios and spurred change (sometimes) and apathy (most times), but it continues to be a weapon in the arsenal of zealots, extremists, and, of course, the insane.

Assassination is the ultimate attempt to “win.” What assassins believe is that by eliminating someone they hate, or virulently disagree with, their wishes will come true: everything wrong about the world for which they blame the victim will suddenly be fixed.

It never works.

Assassination is a form of terrorism, and this excerpt from the “Isaac and Ishmael” episode of The West Wing speaks to the sheer inefficacy of murder as strategy:

STUDENT 1: You know a lot about terrorism?

SAM SEABORN: I dabble.

STUDENT 1: What are you struck by most?

SAM SEABORN: Its 100 percent failure rate.

STUDENT 1: Really?

SAM SEABORN: Not only do terrorists always fail at what they’re after, they pretty much always succeed in strengthening whatever it is they’re against.

STUDENT 2: What about the IRA?

SAM SEABORN: The Brits are still there. The Protestants are still there. Basque extremists have been staging terrorist attacks in Spain for decades with no result. Left-wing Red Brigades from the ’60s and ’70s, from the Baader-Meinhof Gang in Germany to the Weatherman in the US have tried to take over capitalism. You tell me. How’s capitalism doing?

Sam is right. Assassination and terrorism are the last gasps of desperate zealots who are enraged that the world will not comply with their specific demands nor will it change to make them happy.

And once again, Benjamin Disraeli was right: assassination has never really changed the history of the world. The lesser among us, though—those unable to accept plurality, those incapable of critical thinking that would allow them to embrace more than one idea at a time, those who turn to an ancient text as the manual for their design of the world and how people should live—will keep trying.

And as in the past, and as it will be in the future, it just won’t work.

Knowledge is power, and so by reviewing the stories of those who were targeted by ideologues and the insane, those who died for what they said, or believed, or simply because of who they were, those who were put in the crosshairs, hopefully we will see the evil among us in time to prevent future attacks.

A lofty and perhaps unattainable goal, but what other choice do we have?

Stephen Spignesi

New Haven, Connecticut

December 25, 2015


INTRODUCTION

ITA SEMPER PRO NOBILIS

(Thus always for the famous)

Assassination is the extreme form of censorship.

George Bernard Shaw1

Anybody can kill anybody.

Lynette “Squeaky” Fromme2

When a famous person is attacked and mortally wounded, the medical personnel tending to him or her will often go to extreme (and obviously futile) lengths to resuscitate the victim.

When President Kennedy (Chapter 42) was brought to Parkland Memorial Hospital in Dallas, part of his skull was missing and his brain was a bloody mess. Anyone else probably would have been declared DOA the moment he or she was wheeled in, but in Kennedy’s case the doctors performed a tracheotomy; pumped in fluids, blood, and steroids; and worked twenty minutes to keep the president alive before giving up.

Indira Gandhi (Chapter 24) was clinically dead when she was rushed to the hospital, but the doctors operated nonetheless, removing between sixteen and twenty bullets from her body and even putting out a call for blood donations.

It must never be said that everything that could have been done, was not done, and thus, the attempt to summon a miracle.

Assassination has been used for many reasons over the centuries. It has been a political tool, and it has also been a manifestation of obsession, psychosis, and delusion.

Sometimes, when an assassination attempt succeeds, enormous political, cultural, and societal changes can result (as in the cases of John F. Kennedy and Yitzhak Rabin, for instance). This is the exception, however, and, in most cases, the assassination has no effect whatsoever. Failed attempts become a footnote to history, usually consisting of no more than the details of where the assassin was incarcerated or when and where he (or, in the rare case, she) was executed. Arthur Bremer, who shot and wounded George Wallace (Chapter 80), and who is currently in prison, has lamented his failure to achieve “Lee Harvey Oswald–type” assassin’s fame. He has talked about the fact that not only is he unknown to most people, even his target, George Wallace, is unknown to most young people today.

Sometimes the reason for an assassination attempt is stunningly mundane. Ronald Reagan’s (Chapter 65) assassin wanted to impress an actress. Rebecca Schaeffer’s (Chapter 71) assassin was in love with her. Francisco Duran (Chapter 12), who shot at the White House in an attempt to assassinate Bill Clinton, said that he was trying to destroy a mist connected by an umbilical cord to an alien being.

The most popular weapons for assassination among the assassins in In the Crosshairs are .38- and .44-caliber handguns. Among rifles, the .30-06 was preferred, followed by the AK-47 assault rifle. Knives were used less frequently, because stabbing requires close proximity to the target, as well as a personal mindset that accepts (and, in some cases, requires) physical contact with the victim.

There are creative killers here as well, assassins who turned to such exotic weapons as time bombs, butane bombs, hand grenades, an ice ax, poisoned mushrooms, a poisoned needle, swords, and even a camera tripod.

Note: Throughout In the Crosshairs, we use the term assassin (sometimes modified with conspiring, unsuccessful, and so on) when referring to the person who killed or attacked the subject—even if the person did not die from the assault. We are using the term in the spirit of the name of the secret order of Muslim fanatics who terrorized and killed Christian Crusaders and others, beginning in the eleventh century AD. Likewise, we use assassination in the dossier that leads off each section to describe both assassinations and attempts.
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QUEEN BEATRIX OF THE NETHERLANDS

Assassinated       

Survived ✓


What started out as a beautiful day has ended in a terrible tragedy that has shocked all of us.



Queen Beatrix1

VICTIM: Queen Beatrix Wilhelmina Armgard

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 71

BORN: January 31, 1938

DIED: n/a

OCCUPATION: Queen of the Netherlands until her abdication in 2013

UNSUCCESSFUL ASSASSIN: Karst Roeland Tates, 38

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: April 30, 2009, approximately 11:50 a.m.

LOCATION OF ATTACK: The road leading to the palace of Het Loo in Apeldoorn, Netherlands

WEAPON: An older model, black Suzuki Swift

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: There were seven deaths that were the responsibility of the attacker; the death toll rose to eight when Tates died in the hospital the following day. There were also ten nonfatal injuries.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: None

Karst Tates was the very model of a modern psychotic, despondent loner.

He had the psycho creds: financial troubles, eviction worries, lost his job as a night shift security guard, depression. His parents claimed he was a nice guy; we would have been surprised if they had said otherwise. But unlike scenarios (mostly in the United States) wherein neighbors of the serial killer (the BTK Killer comes to mind) always say he was a nice guy and that they never suspected anything, post-attack reports from Tates’s neighbors are the opposite. After the attack, a neighbor of Tates reported that he had said he was depressed and estranged from his family.

The belief is that he scouted the location where he would crash his car into the bus carrying the royal family. Some reports claim he chose a spot where there would be few if any “innocent bystanders.” He was probably surprised then when he showed up and the streets were lined with hapless innocent bystanders.

Tates was gravely injured in the attack, but he was conscious and lucid enough in the hospital to tell the police that his intention was to kill the royal family. This is accepted as his motive. He died of brain injuries the day after the attack.

His “attack” on the queen and the rest of the royal family was, in essence, a joke. Dutch TV was broadcasting the parade and the whole country watched as Tates’s vehicle sped around the corner where the bus was at the time and crashed into a monument. (The incident can be seen at www.youtube.com/watch?v=XvHy4PcIRGk.)

He didn’t even clip the bus, but he did run down onlookers (which cannot be seen in the video, but can be seen in a video slideshow at www.youtube.com/watch?v=Eoxi_XewuuI). This slideshow also has a photograph of Queen Beatrix reacting in horror to the incident and wrapped bodies on gurneys being removed from the scene. (Two men and two women died at the scene. Three later succumbed.) The live video also shows medical personnel performing CPR in the middle of the street on one of Tates’s victims.

Immediately after the crash, Tates’s vehicle was surrounded by police, photographers, and parade-goers. It would seem that the initial perception of the event was that it was an accident. Watching the video, we get the sense that the immediate response was that no one was even considering the possibility that the vehicle was rigged to explode, or that the driver was armed.

The royal bus continued to proceed slowly along the route, only now surrounded by armed guards (in nicely tailored suits, of course).

Tates’s vehicular attack was the first attempt on the lives of the Dutch royal family in decades. Today, a monument stands near the site of the attack. It was unveiled in 2010 in honor of the seven victims and depicts a box holding seven blue and white balloons.
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THOMAS BECKETT

Assassinated   ✓

Survived     


To look upon he was slim of growth and pale of hue, with dark hair, a long nose, and a straightly featured face. Blithe of countenance was he, winning and loveable in his conversation, frank of speech in his discourses, but slightly stuttering in his talk, so keen of discernment and understanding that he could always make difficult questions plain after a wise manner.



Robert of Cricklade1

VICTIM: Thomas á Beckett

BORN: December 21, 1118

DIED: December 29, 1170

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 62

OCCUPATION: Chancellor of England, Archbishop of Canterbury, friend and enemy of King Henry II, English martyr now known as St. Thomas Beckett

ASSASSINS: Reginald FitzUrse2, William de Tracy, Hugh de Morville, and Richard le Breton: four over-ambitious knights in the service of corrupt King Henry II

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: Tuesday, December 29, 1170, at dusk

LOCATION OF ATTACK: In front of the altar of St. Benedict in Canterbury Cathedral, Canterbury, England

WEAPONS: Swords

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: After several blows from the knights’ swords, including one that cracked open his skull and splattered his brains, Thomas died almost immediately.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: The four knights, initially boastful and proud of their deed, were quickly excommunicated and had to flee to Scotland for refuge. They eventually gave themselves up to King Henry, who turned them over to the Pope for punishment. The pontiff required them to fast, and they were then ordered to join the Crusades and spend fourteen years in the Holy Land. King Henry later acknowledged his mistake in earlier accusing Thomas of theft, by walking through Canterbury barefoot in a sackcloth as monks beat him with reeds.

Sometimes we have to watch what we say, especially if we happen to be the King of England.

King Henry II was traveling in France with one of his archbishops when he learned that Thomas Beckett, the highest cleric in the Church of England, had returned to England and had been met with crowds and great acclaim.

Thomas had been named Archbishop by his friend King Henry in an attempt to create an easy (but powerful) alliance between the monarchy and the Church in England. Unfortunately for King Henry, things did not go as he had hoped. After the king implemented laws that would have given him control of all cases in England involving clergy, Thomas publicly denounced him and the new laws, greatly embarrassing the monarch and creating an untenable situation for King Henry.

Quick-thinking (and devious), King Henry summoned Thomas and accused him of stealing large sums of money from the Church when he was chancellor. King Henry hoped to distract the public from the archbishop’s contempt toward his authority, and there was such an uproar over the accusations that Thomas felt it wise to flee to France. He left England in October 1164 and stayed there six years in exile.

When King Henry heard that Thomas had been welcomed back to England with open arms, he was outraged. Archbishop Roger of York, who was with the King in France, stirred the monarch up even more by reminding him that he was going to have to contend with Thomas when he returned and that there would be no peace in his kingdom as long as Thomas was back in England.

It was then that King Henry angrily exclaimed (to anyone and everyone within earshot), “Who will rid me of this meddlesome priest?!”3

King Henry’s words were heard by four of his knights who suddenly saw a great opportunity for “career advancement,” so to speak. If they eliminated the “Thomas problem” for King Henry, then they would immediately be elevated in the king’s eye, and riches and privileges aplenty would soon come their way.

So what did these four ambitious knights do? They left without delay for England.

They arrived in England on December 29th and immediately set out for Canterbury. Their arrival in Canterbury was cause for great alarm, and the monks attending Thomas urged him to flee his residence and seek refuge in the cathedral, where a Vespers service was taking place at the time.

Thomas did as they asked, but the knights followed him into the cathedral and attacked him with swords. De Tracey struck first, and the others pierced him three additional times. Thomas fell to his knees, and then Breton struck Thomas on the top of the head with such force that his head actually split open and the tip of the sword broke off. Thomas’s brains spilled out onto the floor of the cathedral, and the knights finished the job by spreading the archbishop’s hacked-out brain matter all over the marble floor. By this time, the worshippers had fled the cathedral, and the knights followed soon thereafter, leaving Thomas’s ravaged body and bloody, cracked-open head lying in a pool of his own blood and brains. Thomas’s companion, Edward Grim, was wounded by one of the knight’s swords, but he survived.

Three days after Thomas’s murder, a series of purported miracles began to occur, all of which were believed to have been caused by Thomas’s spirit. According to medieval texts, Thomas’s spirit restored sight to the blind, gave speech to the dumb, brought hearing to the deaf, gave the ability to walk to the crippled, and reportedly even brought people back from the dead. Three years later, in 1173, Thomas was canonized St. Thomas Beckett by Pope Alexander III. His remains were initially buried behind one of the altars in the cathedral, but in 1220 they were moved to a shrine that had been specially constructed in his honor in the Trinity Chapel. Perhaps in vengeance for the disrespect shown to his namesake/ancestor by Thomas, King Henry VIII destroyed Thomas’s shrine in 1538. It is believed the martyr’s remains were also destroyed at that time.
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ALAN BERG

Assassinated   ✓

Survived     


Alan Berg … is more famous in death than in life. His memory haunts many people … because his death could be read as a message: Be cautious, be prudent, be bland, never push anybody, never say what you really think, offer yourself as a hostage to the weirdos even before they make the first move. These days, a lot of people are opposed to the newfound popularity of “trash television,” and no doubt they are right, and the hosts of these shows are shameless controversy-mongers. But at least they are not intimidated. Of what use is freedom of speech to those who fear to offend.



Roger Ebert1

VICTIM: Alan Berg

BORN: January 1, 1934

DIED: June 18, 1984

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 50

OCCUPATION: Controversial and confrontational radio talk-show host, self-proclaimed “Wildman of the Airwaves”

ASSASSINS: Bruce Carroll Pierce (b. 1954), 32, shooter; David Eden Lane (b. 1938), 46, driver of the getaway car; Robert Jay Mathews, (1953–1984), 45, leader and mastermind of the plot to assassinate Berg; all members of a neo-Nazi, White power/Aryan Resistance movement called The Order (aka Bruder Schweigen)

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: Monday, June 18, 1984, shortly after 9 p.m.; the ambulance arrived at 9:39 p.m.; pronounced dead at 9:45 p.m.

LOCATION OF ATTACK: In the driveway of Berg’s condominium in Denver, Colorado

WEAPON: A .45-caliber semiautomatic machine gun

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Berg died immediately from multiple gunshot wounds to the head and neck. Police found ten spent .45-caliber shell casings in Berg’s driveway; the police report showed close to twenty bullet holes in Berg. (Berg’s feet were still in his car when his body was discovered.)

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: Bruce Carroll Pierce was arrested in 1985 and tried for Berg’s murder. He was ultimately convicted of violating Berg’s civil rights, violating the Hobbs Act, and counterfeiting. He was sentenced to 252 years in prison and is currently serving his time in Leavenworth, Kansas. David Eden Lane was arrested in March 1985 and went through three trials in three separate jurisdictions. In his first trial, in Seattle, Washington, in April 1985, he was charged with conspiracy, racketeering, and being in “The Order.” He was convicted and received a forty-year sentence. At Lane’s second trial, in October 1987, he was charged with violating Berg’s civil rights and was convicted. He received a 150-year sentence. He appealed this sentence in 1989. Lane’s third trial was in Fort Smith, Arkansas, in February 1987. He faced charges of sedition, conspiracy, and civil rights violations. Lane refused legal counsel and represented himself. The earliest Lane could be out of prison for his two prior convictions is March 29, 2035.

It was almost as though Alan Berg was daring someone to take a shot at him, and there were days on his radio show when the word almost could easily have been replaced with definitely.

From February 1984 until his death, Berg hosted a daily, four-hour, Clear Channel radio talk show on KOA-AM, reaching more than two hundred thousand listeners in thirty-eight states. A former lawyer known for his in-your-face style, Berg manifested the same indignation-fueled rage on his radio program and gave new meaning to the word blunt. Berg talked about anything and everything, including his own personal problems, his alcoholism, and other hot-button topics that sometimes infuriated his listeners, but that always kept them listening.

Confrontation was Berg’s forte, and it was not uncommon for him to hang up on callers—and sometimes for callers to hang up on him. Too many of his guests to count stormed out of his studio while the show was still on the air after they had had their fill of Berg’s combative, insulting, interviewing “style.”

All this considered, Berg’s death is a dark irony. He never had a chance for his final confrontation.

A white supremacist who had been on the receiving end of some of Berg’s taunting waited at Berg’s condominium one Monday night. Berg had finished his show and, after stopping off for a can of dog food, pulled into his driveway. As soon as Berg opened his Volkswagen door, Bruce Pierce opened fire on him with a machine gun. Berg was struck so quickly with so many bullets that he fell to the ground immediately, his feet still inside the car. If he wasn’t dead by the time he hit the ground, he was gone within seconds.

Nothing of Berg’s was taken. His wallet was untouched; his condominium was locked and secure. The Order was not interested in robbing Berg; they simply wanted him dead.

Berg’s murder was a hit, plain and simple, and it was because he was Jewish, and white, and anti-intolerance, and, of course, anti-Nazi. And he said so on the radio, often calling members of The Order and other white supremacist groups that worshipped Adolf Hitler “stupid.”

Before his death, Berg had applied for a permit to carry a gun, but he was denied. He told the authorities that he regularly received death threats, but they did not take him seriously.

In 1987, the writer, comedian, actor, and monologist Eric Bogosian wrote and starred in a play, Talk Radio, which was based on Alan Berg but was not a literal biographical rendering of his story. Bogosian later starred in the 1989 acclaimed film adaptation of his play, also called Talk Radio, directed by Oliver Stone.
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GEORGE W. BUSH
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Assassinated       

Survived ✓


I threw the grenade, not directly at where there was bulletproof glass, but toward the heads … so that the shrapnel would fly behind the bulletproof glass.



Vladimir Arutyunian1

VICTIM: George W. Bush2

BORN: July 6, 1946

DIED: n/a

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 58

OCCUPATION: Forty-third President of the United States (2001–2009); Governor of Texas (1995–2000)

UNSUCCESSFUL ASSASSIN: Vladimir Arutyunian, 37

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: May 10, 2005, afternoon

LOCATION OF ATTACK: Freedom Square in Tbilisi, Georgia

WEAPON: A Soviet-made RGD-5 hand grenade

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Arutyunian stood in the crowd for hours holding a hand grenade wrapped in a red plaid handkerchief. As soon as President Bush began speaking, he pulled the pin and tossed the grenade. It landed sixty-one feet3 from the podium where Bush and Georgian President Saakashvili were standing. The grenade struck a young girl, bounced off her, and hit the ground still wrapped in the handkerchief, which prevented it from exploding. No one was injured and Arutyunian escaped.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: Arutyunian fled the scene and wasn’t arrested until July 20, 2005. On January 11, 2006, Arutyunian was sentenced to life in prison. The FBI, in its official report about the case, provided details on how the case unfolded and how the arrest was made:

•   First, we quickly brought extra manpower to the scene, including agents from nearby Budapest, Hungary, the FBI Lab, and from our Washington, D.C., office. The agents analyzed the grenade, mapped the crime scene, and obtained a DNA sample from the handkerchief, which gave us a genetic profile of the attacker.

•   At the same time, we began gathering all news footage and photographs taken that day. Working closely with Georgian authorities, we used the photographs to identify and then interview potential witnesses in the crowd. One Georgian woman said she’d seen a suspicious man in a heavy coat with a red handkerchief. A Georgian sketch artist developed a composite picture of the man based on her description.

•   In one picture, we also spotted a man in the bleachers with a large camera facing the area of the attack. Turns out, he was a visiting professor from Boise, Idaho. We contacted him and obtained his photographs. Based on the woman’s description, we were able to identify a suspect from the professor’s photographs. Georgian authorities publicized the man’s picture and created a hotline for information.

•   Soon after, acting on a tip from the hotline, Georgian officers arrived at the apartment of a man named Vladimir Arutyunian (or Arutunian). The man opened fire, tragically killing a Georgian police officer, but the attacker was soon captured. DNA samples from the man matched the handkerchief. From his hospital bed, Arutyunian admitted that he had thrown the grenade in hopes of killing President Bush.

•   Georgian police later found a chemical lab in a basement and bunker in the woods that Arutyunian had stocked with chemicals, explosives, and other materials. FBI personnel helped dismantle the stockpiles, saving lives and gathering further evidence.

•   In December 2005, FBI agents from Washington and our Lab testified in Georgian court on the evidence gathered against Arutyunian.

•   The result? On January 11, 2006 Arutyunian was convicted and sentenced to life in prison for the grenade attack and for killing the Georgian police officer.4

He is ineligible for parole. Ever.

Vladimir Arutyunian is no Rhodes Scholar, that’s for sure.

His claim to ignominy is trying to assassinate two presidents, both of whom were standing behind bulletproof glass. This did not deter Vlad, though. He decided to throw a hand grenade at their heads, figuring that the shrapnel from … what? The broken glass? … would fly at Bush and Saakashvili, perhaps resulting in … what? Fatal cuts?

Arutyunian lived with his mother and never had a fixed occupation. He hated the new Georgian president, Mikhail Saakashvili, believing he was a puppet of George W. Bush and the United States.

Although Arutyunian initially confessed to the assassination attempt, his lawyer tried to claim that there was only circumstantial evidence implicating him. She claimed that since Arutyunian’s fingerprints were not found on the grenade, he should have been acquitted.

The prosecution didn’t have much of a problem refuting this brilliant legal strategy: they demonstrated that the red handkerchief in which Arutyunian had wrapped the grenade simply wiped off any fingerprints, and his DNA, as mentioned, was on the handkerchief. Case closed.


[image: image]

JULIUS CAESAR

Assassinated   ✓

Survived     

Here was a Caesar! When comes such another?

William Shakespeare1

VICTIM: Caius Julius Caesar

BORN: July 12–13, 100? BC

DIED: March 15, 44 BC, the “Ides of March”

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 55

OCCUPATION: Roman dictator, general, and statesman; changed the Roman republic into a monarchy (although without ever taking on the title of emperor or king); returned to Rome and told the Senate, “Veni, vidi, vici” (“I came, I saw, I conquered”), after a successful campaign in Asia; conqueror of Gaul (modern-day France); adopted Augustus (whose original name was Octavius Gaius), who became the first emperor of Rome; put Cleopatra on the throne of Egypt

ASSASSINS: Plotted and initiated by Caesar’s friends Marcus Brutus (85? BC–42 BC) and Cassius. So many Roman senators were involved in the assassination that many of them were wounded by their fellow assassins’ knives as they all stabbed wildly at Caesar. It is believed that between twenty-three and sixty senators participated in Caesar’s murder.

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: March 15, 44 BC, shortly after noon

LOCATION OF ATTACK: The Roman Senate, in front of the statue of Pompey

WEAPONS: Daggers—many, many daggers

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Caesar was taken completely by surprise. After the first blade pierced him, he briefly fought back with a stylus used for writing on wax tablets, but then he surrendered when confronted with the great number of senators participating in the assassination. He covered his face and head with his robe and ultimately received twenty-three knife wounds, the combined effect of which was fatal. Caesar died on the floor of the Senate in front of the statue of Pompey.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: Cassius and Brutus spoke to the Senate the day after Caesar was assassinated and explained that they plotted and carried out his murder because he was becoming a despot, because he had forbade the practice of taxing citizens for the senators’ personal gain, and because he was planning to dismantle the Roman capital of the empire and move it to Alexandria, Egypt, where he could be near Cleopatra, whom he had installed there as queen. The pro-Caesar senators did not debate these points, but welcomed Caesar’s right-hand man, Marcus Antonius, as his successor. Marcus pardoned the assassins, but conflict soon began between the soldiers loyal to Brutus and those loyal to Caesar (and thus, Marcus). Marcus quickly suppressed the uprising and, shortly thereafter, Brutus and Cassius both committed suicide.

When Julius Caesar was being stabbed repeatedly by Roman senators, he did not say “Et tu, Brute.” This phrase has been used in many literary accounts of the assassination in order to allow the character of Caesar to concisely express his shock when learning that his friend Brutus had so callously betrayed him.

The two earliest accounts of Caesar’s death—by Plutarch and Suetonius—report that Caesar remained silent when attacked. He did not say a word. Suetonius does report, however, that “other people” recalled that Caesar’s last words were addressed to Brutus and were “And thou, son?” Many historians give some credence to this account, although Suetonius did not.

In the sixteenth century, William Shakespeare repeated the secondhand account from Suetonius, first in the First Quarto version of his play The True Tragedie of Richard Duke of Yorke (which was not included in the revised Richard II) and then in Act 3 of his monumental Julius Caesar (as “Et tu, Brute, wilt thou stab Caesar, too?)”

It would have made sense for Caesar to say something, though; such was the enormity of Brutus’s betrayal. Also, Caesar’s reported use of the term child or son would likewise have been in character, because Caesar had been having a long-running affair with Brutus’s mother and there was the widespread rumor that Caesar was Brutus’s father. (Brutus stabbed Caesar in the genitals. This act would seem to have many interpretations, especially so when it is known that after Brutus stabbed him in the groin, Caesar gave up and accepted his death.)

Ancient Romans looked to omens, portents, dreams, and divination the way we moderns keep an eye on CNN and the Weather Channel.

The night before he was murdered, Caesar’s wife Calpurnia dreamt that he would soon be killed. Caesar ignored her. Calpurnia then reminded him that a fortune-teller had warned him that the ides of March (March 15th) would be deadly for him. This reminder, along with his wife’s dream, convinced Caesar not to leave the house that day. One of his men arrived soon thereafter, however, and mocked him for being superstitious, and Caesar decided (albeit reluctantly) to go to Pompey’s Theater at the Senate as he had originally planned.

The plot against Caesar, involving sixty senators, was scheduled to be carried out as soon as he arrived at the Senate. On the way there, someone (history does not tell us who, but it was clearly someone loyal to Caesar) handed him a parchment on which the assassination attempt was detailed. Caesar handed it to one of his slaves. He was always being handed “petitions,” and he was apparently not in the mood to read one at that time.

As soon as he arrived and took a seat beneath the statue of Pompey, Tillius Cimber approached him and asked him to allow his brother, whom Caesar had banished from Rome, to return from exile. During this conversation, Casca stepped behind Caesar, pulled off the ruler’s robe, and stabbed him in the upper back. This was the signal for the assassination to begin, and a free-for-all started immediately. In seconds, Julius Caesar was dead.

Caesar’s assassination did nothing but put his adopted son, Augustus, into power and set the stage for the imperial Caesars who followed.
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JIMMY CARTER
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Assassinated       

Survived ✓


John W. Hinckley is every family’s nightmare come to life. He is the child who drifts off into private hells of depression, despair and finally irrevocable disaster, leaving his parents only the bitterness of “perhaps,” the futility of “if only.”



Newsweek1

VICTIM: James “Jimmy” Earl Carter

BORN: October 1, 1924

DIED: n/a

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 56

OCCUPATION: Thirty-ninth President of the United States (1977–1981)

IMPLICATED ASSASSIN: John W. Hinckley (b. May 29, 1955), future attempted assassin of President Ronald Reagan

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: The date for an attempt would probably have been sometime in October 1980, the period when Hinckley actively stalked Carter.

LOCATION OF ATTACK: The site of the attempt would probably have been at a campaign rally in Nashville, Tennessee.

WEAPON: The likely weapon would have been one of Hinckley’s handguns.

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Hinckley stopped stalking President Carter and abandoned his plan to assassinate him. He, instead, decided to assassinate President Ronald Reagan (Chapter 65).

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: Hinckley was on his way to one of Carter’s campaign stops when he was arrested at an airport after security found guns in his possession when his luggage was X-rayed. This incident seems to have convinced Hinckley to abandon the idea of assassinating Carter, although the argument has also been made that Carter’s very low standings in the polls at that time played a role in Hinckley’s decision to wait for a more famous target. Hinckley’s airport arrest was the only legal consequence of his plot against Jimmy Carter. His guns were confiscated, Hinckley paid a fine of $62.50, and he was released. Hinckley was not placed under surveillance by any law-enforcement agencies after this incident.

History is written after the fact, and all the history books would read quite differently today if John Hinckley had not been stopped at an airport when he was transporting guns. Jimmy Carter might have been the victim of presidential assassination, and Jim Brady would not have been brain-damaged until his death on August 4, 2014. But history is written after the fact, and that’s not how it happened.

Sometime in late 1980, a Secret Service agent bent over the stacks of contact sheets and used a small magnifier to scan the images. Hundreds of faces flew by as he moved the lens over the crowd, looking for anyone who might be considered a threat to the president. The agent was scanning crowd scenes from a 1980 rally for President Carter in Nashville, Tennessee. As he slowly moved the magnifier over one of the sheets, he suddenly froze. Standing in the crowd watching President Carter was a young man he recognized. Stocky, unkempt, sandy-colored hair, glasses. The agent sat up. “Damn,” he said softly, under his breath. He then placed the magnifier back on the contact sheet, bent down to it, and stared through the lens into the face of John W. Hinckley.

It was like the scene from Taxi Driver when Robert De Niro, wearing an army jacket and with a Mohawk haircut, attends a campaign rally for a presidential hopeful. Only this candidate was not a “hopeful”; he was, in fact, the president of the United States.

John W. Hinckley, Jr. stood on the outskirts of the crowd, his eyes hidden behind sunglasses, his hands thrust into his jacket pockets. His guns were back at his hotel. He would not shoot a president that day.

Jimmy Carter was one of John Hinckley’s potential targets for assassination before he decided to shoot President Reagan. Hinckley was never recognized as a threat against the president, even though, as the Secret Service learned after he shot Reagan, he had been photographed in crowds watching Carter at public rallies.

As we know, Hinckley did not fire shots at President Carter, nor did he continue to stalk him from rally to rally. Instead, he whiled away the months between October 1980 and spring 1981, until a few days before the end of March of that year. Then he flew to Washington, this time managing to travel with two handguns undetected, checked into a hotel, and wrote Jodie Foster a letter.

He then walked to the Washington Hilton and waited on the sidewalk in a crowd, precisely the way he had stood in a crowd in Nashville six months earlier. This time, his pockets were not empty, however, and the rest is history—as it is written in the books of today.
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FIDEL CASTRO
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Assassinated       

Survived ✓

If surviving assassination were an Olympic attempt, I would win the gold medal.

Fidel Castro1

VICTIM: Fidel Castro

BORN: August 13, 1926

DIED: n/a

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: Various

OCCUPATION: Lawyer, Premier of Cuba (1959–1976), President of Cuba (1976–2008)

UNSUCCESSFUL ASSASSINS: The CIA (1960–?), the Mafia (1962–63), seven Cuban-Americans (1998)

DATES & TIMES OF ATTACKS: 1960–1998

LOCATIONS OF ATTACKS: Somewhere in Cuba

WEAPONS: A bizarre mélange of exotic, allegedly deadly assaults, including putting fungus in Castro’s diving suit to give him a chronic skin disease; putting tuberculosis spores on his diving tank’s regulator; planting an exploding conch shell on the ocean floor where he often went scuba diving; rigging a pen with a hypodermic needle to inject a deadly insecticide into him; poisoning his cigars with a super-hallucinogen so that he would have an acid trip during a public appearance; poisoning his cigars with a viral toxin; booby-trapping his cigars with explosives; planting thallium salts in his shoes so his beard, hair, eyebrows, and pubic hair would fall out; shooting him with a telescopic rifle; and setting off fireworks after propagandizing to the Cuban people that the Second Coming of Jesus Christ was imminent, with the hope that when they saw the explosions they would overthrow Castro in a rapturous revolution.

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Castro is alive and (still somewhat) well.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: None

According to the BBC, Castro has “reputedly survived more than six hundred CIA-sponsored attempts on his life.”2

Six hundred failed attempts? Well, that explains the Bay of Pigs, eh?

To many in Cuba, Castro is Cuba. He is loved and he is hated, but there is no question that the identity of the island nation is defined by the dominating presence of Fidel Castro. French philosopher Jean-Paul Sartre once said, “Castro is at the same time the island, the men, the cattle and the earth. He is the whole island.”3

He has survived through nine American presidencies. He is perceived by Americans and by the American government as the last Communist, and his proximity to the continental United States has long been a source of concern.

For decades, the US government, as well as many American people, has believed the world would be a better place, a safer place, without Fidel Castro. We imposed trade sanctions on Cuba for what seems like forever, and yet we put aside ideological differences and acted on behalf of the Cuban government when we returned Elian Gonzalez to his father in communist Cuba.

In the 1960s, the CIA concocted Operation Mongoose, which was a clandestine plot to assassinate Castro. The major stumbling block, however, was that the CIA had no way of successfully infiltrating Cuba and getting inside Castro’s personal zone of access.

Their solution? Hire a Mafia hit man to do the job.

This is not as bizarre as it sounds upon first hearing. In the Fifties, the Mafia had a huge gambling operation in Havana, Cuba, and the mob bosses in Chicago, New York, Florida, and elsewhere still had contacts in Cuba that could conceivably be utilized for Operation Mongoose.

The CIA began “working with” Chicago boss Sam Giancana, his associates Meyer Lansky, Johnny Rosselli, Santo Trafficante Jr. (in Florida), and other Mafia chieftains. However, the Mob being the Mob, they apparently took the CIA’s money and duped the organization into believing they were working diligently on the plan, when in reality they were doing absolutely nothing toward putting together a feasible assassination plot.

The CIA eventually pulled the plug on Operation Mongoose, but not before it had been bilked out of a lot of money and resources and embarrassed in the intelligence community for being “taken for a ride” by the Mafia.

In 1997, seven Cuban-Americans were arrested for trying to kill Castro at an international conference in Isla Margarita, Venezuela. The boat they were on started to sink and, when the Coast Guard came to their aid, they found weapons, ammunition, and military supplies on board. That was the end of the Cuban-American National Foundation’s plot against Castro.

Although he has stepped down due to age and ill-health, Castro continues to be reviled by many in the world, and even by his own people. It is a certainty that plots will continue to be hatched against him.
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DICK CHENEY

Assassinated       

Survived ✓

I heard a loud boom…. The Secret Service came in and told me there had been an attack on the main gate.

Dick Cheney1

VICTIM: Richard Bruce “Dick” Cheney

BORN: January 30, 1941

DIED: n/a

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 63

OCCUPATION: Vice President of the United States under George W. Bush (2001–2009); Secretary of Defense under George H. W. Bush; White House Chief of Staff under Gerald Ford

UNSUCCESSFUL ASSASSINS: An unnamed suicide bomber. Qari Yousef Ahmadi, a Taliban spokesperson, told the Associated Press that the Taliban knew in advance of Cheney’s visit, that the Taliban took credit for the attack, and declared that Vice President Cheney was the intended target. The US military is on record as not believing this claim. Lt. Col. David Accetta said, “To characterize this as a direct attempt on the life of the vice president is absurd.”2

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: February 27, 2007, around 10:00 a.m.

LOCATION OF ATTACK: Bagram Airfield, a US base, in Bagram, Afghanistan

WEAPON: Taliban suicide bomber

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Cheney was not injured. Twenty-three people were killed; twenty more were injured, including Afghan workers.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: None

A large explosion within earshot of the current vice president of the United States is a big deal. Especially if it takes place in a war-torn death trap like Afghanistan.

A red alert was immediately declared and Cheney was hustled off to a bomb shelter. He was approximately one mile away from the site of the explosion, which took place just inside the main gates at Bagram Airfield in Afghanistan. Cheney was in Afghanistan following a tour of Pakistan for a meeting with President Hamid Karzai (Chapter 40).

In an interview with the Associated Press after the bombing regarding the Taliban’s possible motives for the attack, Cheney said, “I think they clearly try to find ways to question the authority of the central government. Striking at Bagram with a suicide bomber, I suppose, is one way to do that. But it shouldn’t affect our behavior at all.”3 Cheney obviously perceived the bombing as an attack on the government of Afghanistan and not as an attempt on his own life. A bomb set off a mile from the principal would seem to validate his interpretation. The initial response, though, did assume the worst.

The attack took place around 1:00 a.m. Washington, DC time, and President Bush was not awakened. He was informed of the attack at the following morning’s briefing. His first reaction was to ask if Vice President Cheney was okay.

Cheney met with President Hamid Karzai (Chapter 40) to discuss Pakistan and a recent promise of $10.6 billion in US aid to Afghanistan.

Cheney safely returned to Washington by way of Oman.
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JACQUES CHIRAC

Assassinated       

Survived ✓

I don’t think there was any plot because the shooter would have used a gun of a larger caliber. It looks like the act of a demented person.

Nicolas Couteau1

VICTIM: Jacques Chirac

BORN: November 29, 1932

DIED: n/a

AGE WHEN ATTACKED: 69

OCCUPATION: President of France

UNSUCCESSFUL ASSASSIN: Maxime Brunerie (b. 1977), 25, neo-Nazi with ties to the Union Defense group (a rightist racist organization), student, part-time chauffeur, known to police for having emotional problems

DATE & TIME OF ATTACK: Sunday, July 14, 2002, Bastille Day, shortly before 10 a.m., during the annual Bastille Day parade

LOCATION OF ATTACK: On the Champs-Elysees near the Arc de Triomphe in Paris, France

WEAPON: A .22-caliber rifle

ASSASSINATION OUTCOME: Brunerie managed to fire one shot, which missed the president, who was standing and riding in an open military jeep. As the assassin was attempting to fire a second shot, he was swarmed by people nearby watching the parade, and the gun was pointed upward and then forcibly taken from him. Brunerie tried to turn the gun on himself after firing at the president but was taken into custody before he could do so.

JUDICIAL OUTCOME: Maxime Brunerie’s trial began on December 6, 2004, and on December 10, 2004, after being found guilty of attempted murder, he was sentenced to ten years in prison. The court ruled that even though he suffered from diminished mental capacity, this did not completely absolve him of his crime. After seven years in jail, he was released on August 3, 2009.

Another lone gunman, another open vehicle, another foiled assassination attempt, another citizen intervention, another security embarrassment.

The attempted assassination of French president Jacques Chirac is one of the more recent of such incidents chronicled here, and it occurred during France’s annual celebration of Bastille Day, the day in 1789 when the Paris Bastille was stormed by citizens at the outset of the French Revolution. Bastille Day is a national holiday in France, and its theme is Franco-American relations. Attending the enormous parade were 163 US military cadets, plus seventy-five New York City firefighters and their relatives, led by a New York City fire engine.

There were a reported 2,500 uniformed and plainclothes police officers in the crowd, yet the assassin was able to carry a rifle concealed in a brown guitar case onto the parade route. His guitar case was not checked, and it is not known if there were security checkpoints on the parade route where people’s bags were examined.

The gun was a .22-caliber hunting rifle and it had been bought legally one week earlier. It was fully loaded with five bullets.

After Chirac’s Jeep passed the Arc de Triomphe, it headed down the Champs-Elysees with the president standing and waving at the crowd. When Chirac’s vehicle was about 450 feet from where Brunerie was standing, he opened his guitar case, pulled out the rifle, took aim, and fired. His aim was terrible, however, and the bullet went nowhere near the president. Jacques Weber, a tourist from Alsace, France, saw the gunman take aim. “I looked to my left and I saw a barrel pointed towards the procession. I looked behind me and I saw a man aiming at the procession. I heard a bang and I said to myself, ‘That’s it, he’s shooting.’ I grabbed his rifle and pointed it upwards so that he wouldn’t injure anyone, then I tried to overpower him. He was trying to kill himself. I snatched his weapon and other people overpowered him.”2
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